
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA  
 

Meeting Regeneration Committee 

Date Wednesday 26 June 2019 

Time 2.00 pm 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

 
Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration-committee 
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Tony Devenish AM (Chairman) 
Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 

Andrew Dismore AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Tuesday 18 June 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  
Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk. 
 
For media enquiries please contact, Alison Bell, Head of Assembly Communications;  
Telephone: 020 7983 4428. If you have any questions about individual items please contact the 
author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=303
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Regeneration Committee 
Wednesday 26 June 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies and any announcements from the Chairman. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

Contact:  Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a)  Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

 

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c)    Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Standing Delegation  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the standing delegation set out below, 

which was agreed by the London Assembly (Plenary meeting) on 6 June 2019, to 

Chairs of ordinary committees, sub-committees and working groups to agree, in 

consultation with relevant party Lead Group Members and Deputy Chairs: 

a) The detailed terms of reference for any investigation to be undertaken by the 

relevant committee, sub-committee or working group within its work 

programme as agreed by the GLA Oversight Committee, and any related 

project plans and arrangements for related site visits or informal meetings; 

and 

 

 

mailto:Teresa.young@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

b) The topic and scope for any additional projects to be added to its work 

programme, where it is not practicable to secure prior approval from the 

GLA Oversight Committee and subject also to subsequent ratification by the 

GLA Oversight Committee. 

 
 

4 Minutes (Pages 5 - 36) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 8 May 2019 to be signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 
 

 The appendices to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 36 are attached for Members and 

officers only but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website:  

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration-committee 
 
 

5 Summary List of Actions (Pages 37 - 40) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

6 The GLA Culture Team and Place-Based Culture Initiatives (Pages 41 - 42) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Riina Heinonen, riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4510 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree the areas for consideration set out in paragraph 4.1 of the report for 

this meeting;  

 

(b) Note the report as background to the discussion with the invited guests on 

the GLA Culture Team and place-based culture initiatives and note the 

subsequent discussion; and 

 

(c) Delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair, to 

agree any output from the meeting on the review of the work of the GLA 

Culture Team and place-based culture initiatives. 
 
 

  
 
 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration-committee
mailto:Teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 Regeneration Committee Work Programme (Pages 43 - 46) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the progress on its work programme, as set 

out in the report. 
 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Regeneration Committee is scheduled for Tuesday, 23 July 2019 at 

10am in the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 26 June 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

 https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Regeneration Committee 
Date: Wednesday 8 May 2019 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration 

 

 
Present: 
 
Tony Devenish AM (Chairman) 
Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 There were no apologies for absence. 

 

1.2 During the discussion at Agenda Item 8 (Digital Connectivity and London as a Smart City), 

the Chairman welcomed journalism students from London South Bank University, who 

observed the meeting from the public gallery. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration


Greater London Authority 
Regeneration Committee 
Wednesday 8 May 2019 

 

 
 

2.2 During the discussion on Agenda Item 8 (Digital Connectivity and a Smart London), Tony 

Devenish AM (Chair), for the purposes of transparency, declared a non-pecuniary interest, as 

he knew Councillor Jonathan Glanz because they were both Councillors at Westminster City 

Council. 

 
 
3   Membership of Committee (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

 That the following membership and chairing arrangements for the Committee, as 

set out on the supplementary agenda, and which were agreed by the London 

Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019, be noted:  

 

 Tony Devenish AM (Chairman) 

 Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair) 

 Tony Arbour AM 

 Andrew Dismore AM 

 Joanne McCartney AM 

 
 
4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 

4.1 Resolved: 

 

 That the following terms of reference for the Committee, which were agreed by the 

London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019, be noted: 

 

1. To examine and report from time to time on - 

 matters of importance to Greater London; and 

 the strategies, policies and actions of the Mayor and Functional Bodies  

 as they impact on the regeneration of Greater London. 

 

2. To provide lead oversight for the London Assembly of the policies, decisions 

and actions of any Mayoral Development Corporation.  

 
3. To scrutinise functions relating to culture-led regeneration. 

 

4. To respond on behalf of the Assembly to consultations and similar processes 

when within its terms of reference. 

 

5. To take into account in its deliberations the cross cutting themes of: the 

health of persons in Greater London; the achievement of sustainable 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Regeneration Committee 
Wednesday 8 May 2019 

 

 
 

development in the United Kingdom; climate change; and the promotion of 

opportunity. 

 
 
5   Standing Delegation (Item 5) 

 

5.1 Resolved: 

 

 That the following standing delegation to the Chairman of the Committee be noted: 

 

The London Assembly, at its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, agreed to delegate to 

Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees a general authority to 

respond on the relevant committee or sub-committee’s behalf, following 

consultation with the lead Members of the party Groups on the committee or 

subcommittee, where it is consulted on issues by organisations and there is 

insufficient time to consider the consultation at a committee meeting. 

 
 
6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 

6.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Regeneration Committee meeting held on 6 March 2019 be 

signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
 
7   Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

 

7.1 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and ongoing actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
8   Digital Connectivity and London as a Smart City (Item 8) 

 
8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as  

background to a discussion with the invited guests on digital connectivity and London as a 

smart city.  

 

8.2 The Chairman welcomed the following invited guests to the meeting: 

 Theo Blackwell, Chief Digital Officer, Greater London Authority (GLA); 

 Sara Kelly, Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA; 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Regeneration Committee 
Wednesday 8 May 2019 

 

 
 

 Shashi Verma, Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, Transport 
for London; and 

 Councillor Jonathan Glanz, Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City 

Council. 

 
8.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1.   The maps referred to during the 

discussion showing full fibre broadband coverage, ultra-fast broadband coverage and     

super-fast broadband coverage are attached at Appendix 2. 

 

8.4 During the discussion the Chief Digital Officer, GLA, undertook to: 

 Provide a snapshot of each London boroughs’ progress on developing a digital 

strategy;  

 Discuss with the GLA London Plan Team the possibility of having a requirement for the 

design and access statement in respect of planning applications to provide detailed 

proposals on digital connectivity; 

 Respond regarding the current position on the following recommendation from the 

Committee’s report, Digital Connectivity in London, “The next London Plan should 

encourage boroughs to produce local connectivity plans to ensure sufficient access to a 

minimum level of broadband service. Applications for new developments should 

provide upgrades to connectivity to meet what is outlined in local plans”. 

 To provide examples of the activities other cities are doing which the Chief Digital 

Officer would like to do in the future in London. 

 

8.5 At the end of the discussion, the Chairman thanked the guests for their attendance and 

helpful contributions to the meeting. 

 

8.6 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the areas for consideration as set out in paragraph 4.1 of the report be 

agreed and the report and discussion with invited guests be noted.  

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the 

Deputy Chair, to agree any output from the Committee’s meeting on the 

review of the work on Digital Connectivity and London as a smart city and 

any additional activity to support the Committee’s scrutiny investigation. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Regeneration Committee 
Wednesday 8 May 2019 

 

 
 

9   Regeneration Committee Work Programme (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 

9.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the remainder of the Committee’s dates in the 2019/20 Assembly year, 

which were approved at the Annual Meeting of the Assembly on 2 May 2019, 

as set out in paragraph 3.1 of the report, be noted. 

 

(b) That it be noted that the topic for the Committee’s meeting on 26 June 2019 

will be a scrutiny review of the Greater London Authority (GLA) Culture Team 

and place-based projects, as agreed at the meeting of the GLA Oversight 

Committee on 8 April 2019.  
 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the Committee’s scrutiny 

review of the GLA Culture Team and place-based projects. 

 
 
10   Date of Next Meeting (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Wednesday, 26 June 2019 at 2pm in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
11   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 11) 

 
11.1 There was no other business the Chairman considered urgent. 

 
 
12   Close of Meeting 

 
12.1 The meeting ended at 11.34am. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Regeneration Committee – Wednesday, 8 May 2019 
 

Transcript of Item 8 – Digital Connectivity and London as a Smart City 
 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Moving on to the main agenda item today, which is our discussion on 

Digital Connectivity and London as a smart city, may I start by welcoming our guests to the meeting and invite 

them to introduce themselves briefly - ‘briefly’ being the operative word - starting with Theo Blackwell, Chief 

Digital Officer at the Greater London Authority (GLA), please? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Yes.  I am Theo Blackwell.  I am the Chief Digital Officer for 

London. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  That was very brief. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Yes.  What does that mean? 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Go on.  Say a little bit about what you do and how long you have been 

here at least. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  I have been in post 18 months and my primary responsibility 

is to develop the Smarter London Together roadmap, which we will be no doubt discussing today, and to 

provide better digital governance for London. 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  I am Sara Kelly, Principal Policy 

Officer for Digital Connectivity.  I head up the Connected London Team.  We work with local authorities, 

providers and all stakeholders on improving the availability of full fibre and mobile in London. 

 

Shashi Verma (Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, Transport for London 

(TfL)):  I am Shashi Verma.  I have been at TfL for 17 years, the last three years as the Chief Technology 

Officer and the last year also as Director of Strategy for TfL.  I have responsibility for all things technical in TfL. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Can I ask you because I was asked this morning by some of my colleagues: 

are you the man who invented the Oyster card? 

 

Shashi Verma (Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, TfL):  Yes, and 

contactless. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  I am very impressed.  Follow that, Councillor Jonathan Glanz.  I should 

declare an interest.  Jonathan is an old friend and colleague on Westminster City Council and he is the Gig 

Economy and Broadband Champion at Westminster City Council. 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  As 

you say, it is a difficult act to follow in terms of that, but my role is to ensure that businesses and residents get 

the best connectivity available throughout Westminster and more particularly that they get it at affordable 

prices and avoid any issues in relation to digital deprivation. 

Page 11



 

 
 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  Going straight into question one and starting with 

Theo, what is the role of the Smart London Board and the London Office of Technology & Innovation (LOTI) in 

making London a smart city and how are you contributing to the delivery of a Smarter London Together, 

please? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Thank you for that question and thank you for the 

opportunity to address the Committee. 

 

The role of the Smart London Board, to answer the first part of the question, is to give further strategic advice 

and opportunities for engagement, engaging the business community and civil society around the Smart 

London agenda.  It was appointed just before I was appointed and continues its role as it was set up in the 

previous administration to provide that extra help, support and guidance on the sometimes quite thorny issues 

that arise from the implementation of technology solutions in the city.  So far, the Smart London Board has 

met approximately six times.  It has advised me and guided me on the development of the roadmap.  There 

have also been opportunities that have arisen from the Smart London Board, most notably engagement in the 

development of the LOTI. 

 

The LOTI is planned to launch in June [2019].  It has been in development for the last 18 months.  It is a 

collaboration between the GLA, London Councils and a cohort of digitally leading boroughs.  There is a 

workshop going on at the moment with borough Chief Information Officers (CIOs) to develop its work plan.  It 

is a unique institution for London.  It will be based at London Councils but slightly at arm’s length from London 

Councils.  It has a special funding model, part funded by the GLA, part funded by London Councils and then a 

kind of subscription from participating boroughs, including Westminster.  It aims to do something that we have 

never really tried to do before and addressing a real problem, which is building the capabilities of that cohort 

of councils: sharing and reusing what works best, digital skills, creating common platforms, and solving those 

issues that have prevented the scaling of the best digital services before in London. 

 

One of our big challenges as a city is that, on the TfL level, Shashi introducing contactless payment is of course 

a smart city solution delivered on a London-wide scale, but London is, as we found, a collection of 32 different 

smart cities.  This is something that is almost mainstreamed into the United Kingdom (UK) political settlement: 

if we try scaling something from one council to another, we come up against localism.  What do we do to take 

the advantages of being in a city and get over the disadvantages of that fragmentation?  LOTI is specifically 

set up to help scale good ideas together. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Sara, do you want to add anything?  You do not have to. 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  We are working with LOTI on 

identifying opportunities for Digital Connectivity as well. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Jonathan, what is your knowledge and experience to date of LOTI, please, 

and how do you think it will benefit public services in Westminster? 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  As 

Theo said, we are happy to work with LOTI and indeed we are happy to work with anybody who will help us 

achieve our objectives in Westminster.  He has referred to aspects of digital service and my focus has been on 

the provision of the delivery mechanism as opposed to the product that is delivered over that.  I know that he 

is working with our colleague [Councillor] Paul Swaddle [ Westminster City Council] and others in relation to 

Page 12



 

 
 

how we can improve our digital offering at Westminster and continue to champion best practice in that 

respect. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Moving back to Theo, what has the renewed Smart London Board 

contributed so far to the Mayor’s plans for London to be a smart city?  Could you give a couple of concrete 

examples, please? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  The Smart London Board essentially sits there and advises me 

and some colleagues on developing a better London-wide approach to things. 

 

I suppose the main point I would make is that we have pivoted in the view or updated the view of a smart city 

from where we were around 2013 or 2014 to make it more relevant to the contemporary debates today.  When 

we were considering as a city what a smart city was just after the [2012 London] Olympics, we were thinking 

perhaps about the challenges of the Olympics and how we deal with tens of thousands of extra people being 

moved around the city and how we get a greater sense of those big systems of the city and how they integrate 

together.  Today when people talk about smart cities, they talk about them both in terms of a physical thing, a 

smart city platform that is evident in perhaps cities and countries in the Middle East or in China.  They think 

about smart cities in terms of districts and they think about smart cities in terms of smart city technologies.  

These are all really important and critical to that of course is the provision of fibre. 

 

However, the danger in that approach - and this is something that the Smart London Board has been really 

helping me think through - is that that suggests a technology-first approach rather than really understanding 

citizen need.  There is something special going on in London.  We are a global centre of the data economy and 

we are also a global hub for the design economy.  We have major institutions such as the Government Digital 

Service here and, obviously, universities.  All of these things together, the data and the design, really help us 

come up with a new conception of what it is to be a smart city, not so much a noun but an adjective and an 

approach. 

 

The Smart London Board has helped me develop a new way of thinking about a smart city, one that focuses on 

five main aspects.  These five what we call ‘missions’ are critically important to any organisation trying to adapt 

to the digital age.  One is that we need to focus on design; design around the citizen, design around the user.  

Secondly, we need to enhance our capabilities about data sharing, not just a platform but how we actually 

share data, the culture of data sharing, the legal agreements and so on and so forth.  Digital connectivity and 

how we make the city more connected; public service digital skills to build our capabilities to understand what 

is possible from technology to serve our citizens better; and also, collaboration, which is where LOTI comes 

into it.  We need a new institution for the digital age to help us collaborate on projects better. 

 

Those five areas - design, data, connectivity, skills and collaboration - are things that could be applied to any 

large organisation.  All of those elements are really important to digitally transforming an organisation.  

Essentially, the Smart London Board has helped us understand that better. 

 

There is one thing I would add about the role of the Smart London Board.  We have focused particularly on 

one area post the publication of the Smarter London Together roadmap and that is on what we call the New 

Deal for City Data.  They are specifically advising me on the City Data Analytics Programme, Artificial 

Intelligence ethics, and developing an approach to a city cybersecurity action plan.  Their expertise is 

invaluable in helping us understand the dynamics of data and city data, which are really quite critical at this 

time. 

 

Page 13



 

 
 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  I would just reiterate that Digital 

Connectivity is fundamentally a part of the Smarter London Together roadmap because it is an enabling 

infrastructure, but not just that.  The digital skills part of the LOTI work as well relates to digital infrastructure 

because we are not going to see the full benefits of enabling full fibre if people do not then do things with it.  

Our work programmes with across LOTI are very fundamentally tied together and the Smarter London Together 

roadmap. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Great.  Thank you.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I am just going to talk with you about Digital Connectivity.  We have an awful long 

way to go compared to international comparators.  The figure we have here is that just 3% have pure fibre all 

the way through, compared to Spain, which has 83% connected to pure fibre so there is a long way to go. 

 

Perhaps you give us an update, Sara, on progress by the Connected London Team in improving connectivity 

and in dealing with not-spots? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  You have in front of you three 

different maps, which are from using the latest dataset available from the Office of Communication’s (Ofcom) 

Connected Nations, which is collected by Ofcom and providers are required to give coverage information to 

them.  You will see super-fast coverage - that is fibre-to-the-cabinet (FTTC) technology - we have at around 

97% in London now.  Ultra-fast coverage is a technology that is FTTC but then uses a coaxial cable from the 

cabinet to the home.  That is traditionally how cable television (TV) services were delivered and so providers 

are now using that to deliver a better and faster service than  FTTC.  Availability of that is at around 71% in 

London.  The latest information we have on full fibre shows that that coverage is at around 12% in London 

compared to 8% in the UK.  We are seeing some gradual improvements. 

 

The work that my team does, as I mentioned, is with local authorities and providers and we really try to use the 

tools available to the Mayor to better enable investment into fibre infrastructure in London and address some 

of the barriers to delivery that providers often talk about.  My team co-ordinates across all 33 local authorities 

in London.  We have five regional working groups and we meet with them quarterly.  We are just doing a round 

of them now.  I was in Lewisham yesterday and I am going to be in Merton tomorrow.  The purpose of those 

regional groups is to share best practice, like what is working really well in Westminster.  We get local 

authorities in similar areas together to talk about what has worked for Westminster and whether it can work for 

another local authority.  We try to share best practice and knowledge to try to tackle some of those barriers to 

delivery.  We also meet with providers to get their views on where they would like to invest and what they 

would like to invest in and try to understand from their perspective the issues that they are facing as well. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Looking at these maps, I suppose it is not surprising that areas around the periphery 

of London are less well connected, but what would surprise a lot of people is to see the extent to which the 

Central Activity Zone in Westminster and the City of London are not connected.  If we are looking at 

Westminster as a whole - I do not know if Jonathan wants to comment on this - the Paddington end is 

reasonably connected but Marylebone and South Westminster are not.  If we are looking at Westminster as a 

good example, what is going on? 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  That 

is a very good question because we would have to look at the history of how connectivity has been supplied in 

the Central Activity Zone.  Up until comparatively recently, the options that were available to businesses were 

to have a copper or asymmetric digital subscriber line (ADSL) connection or to pay for a leased line.  The 

Page 14



 

 
 

leased lines were put in by Openreach and its predecessors and its commercial competitors at very expensive 

prices.  If you were running a business in the centre of London and wanted to have the absolute certainty that 

you had sufficient bandwidth to do that, you had to pay hundreds or thousands of pounds a month to get a 

leased line.  That has been a very lucrative business for the suppliers.  My understanding and analysis is that 

one of the reasons we have not had the same kind of general rollout of better-quality connectivity is because 

that source of income has been maintained by the suppliers to the detriment of choice to residents and smaller 

businesses. 

 

We have really been focusing on those not-spots that you highlighted as being there in the middle of 

Westminster like Soho, Marylebone, Mayfair, the areas that I represent on the Council.  We have looked very 

hard as to how we can resolve that.  There has been a range of solutions as to how that is now being 

addressed.  I was just saying before that probably there is an element of a lagging indicator in terms of where 

we are with that journey because we now have fibre-to-the-premises (FTTP) being provided to most of the 

Central Activity Zone by, in some cases, several companies that have filled the vacuum Openreach left behind.  

In addition to that, we have also worked with Community Fibre to provide gigabit connectivity to our social 

housing and using those bases that have been created within the social housing buildings to spread tendrils 

out to a wider area to improve that connectivity quite significantly. 

 

Where that has taken place, they have seen a very good take-up and transformation in terms of the old levels 

of connectivity, focused specifically really on the smaller businesses that were not able to pay the hundreds 

and thousands of pounds being requested for leased lines.  Nevertheless, whether they are involved in the 

creative industries or medicine or the professional services side of things, they are now able to get that and 

have significantly improved their ability to go out to the market in the case of creative industries and to 

conduct their business generally across the piece.  We have seen people move from speeds of 2 or 3 megabits 

up to hundreds of megabits, with the transformation that that has had for their businesses, allowing them to 

operate in a completely different way. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Are we saying that this green map is out of date? 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  My 

understanding is that there are elements of lagging indicator within that.  We keep a very detailed map of 

connectivity within Westminster.  Within the areas that are showing white, we now see significant penetration 

by other providers of FTTP services and there is an element of time lag and an element of recognition for those 

particular providers not being part of the standard process.  As I understand it, if Openreach upgrades 

something it gets more or less put onto this [map] pretty quickly, but if the new providers such as G.Networks 

or Hyperoptic or Relish put in the same services there is a slightly more cumbersome process of recognition for 

the contribution they are making to the connectivity in the area. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  I agree.  There is a challenge with getting accurate data 

about this vital service.  It is something that we are keen to address with Ofcom. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  How are you working with the boroughs about progressing connectivity in these 

areas?  How do you think they are doing?  I see that Camden, where you came from, is looking quite good 

compared to Westminster, particularly in the coterminous bits where the businesses are probably not that 

different. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Yes.  My take on connectivity is that - remember - the 

provision so far has supported London to become one of the world’s most recognised global tech hubs.  What 

Page 15



 

 
 

we need to do now is go to the next level because something new is coming and that is 5G.  5G requires a 

significant investment in full fibre.  We are OK for now but not fit for the future. 

 

We need to put in place a number of very strong measures and that requires us to adopt a new approach.  I 

would characterise our approach in a number of ways. 

 

Firstly, we have invested in the Connected London Team, which for the first time is working with the boroughs 

really closely to do what the Government calls ‘barrier busting’, ie learning from best practice in boroughs like 

Westminster and Camden and others, those that have had more experience with investment, and sharing that 

right across the board.  It is fair to say that not all boroughs see connectivity as their primary responsibility 

because the history has been that traditional providers have come in and done things.  Not all boroughs have 

plans around connectivity. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Name and shame.  Which do not? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  In our last estimate, something like a third of London’s 

boroughs do not have full plans around connectivity and about a third of London boroughs do not have digital 

strategies yet. 

 

Those that do have shown significant changes.  Southwark, for example, is an example of a borough that had a 

real problem with connectivity in the Rotherhithe Peninsula, has developed a digital strategy and has totally 

changed the nature of provision in the area over the last 18 months.  It is quite a quick turnaround if a 

borough really focuses on things. 

 

From my experience in Camden, I was a cabinet member for finance and I was often approached by 

connectivity providers.  It sounded great.  All we had to do was use our authority and we could boost 

connectivity.  Actually, it is quite a hard thing for a borough to do if you think about it.  In order to facilitate 

the appropriate digs, you often have to deal with the housing department, the highways department, legal, 

other bits of property and economic development.  What it takes is not a junior officer but senior leadership to 

make it happen.  Those boroughs that have really made a difference are those that have committed senior 

leadership to this.  That is what we are trying to put across to other boroughs in London.  The Connected 

London Team does that. 

 

Planning policy is another major tool and we have argued for a quite significant upgrade in our provisions in 

the draft London Plan, currently with the Planning Inspector, including to ask that boroughs are required to 

have their own digital strategies around connectivity and a number of other provisions. 

 

There is also a real role that is partly us and partly TfL and partly the boroughs.  The public services estate is 

going to be vitally important for the rollout of connectivity and so it is about how we mobilise that estate, 

TfL’s tunnels, the public buildings surrounding Tube stations.  The public sector estate can act, almost 

uniquely in the world, as a hub for that connectivity, which can be a total gamechanger for this city.  TfL’s 

work and our associated work with TfL is going to be quite critical to all of those things. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Going back to the question I asked you about naming and shaming, you will name and 

praise but you will not name and shame.  In relation to boroughs that you would shame if you were prepared to 

do so, how do you actually relate to them?  If they have no digital strategy or digital office or whatever, how 

can you spread good practice if there is no one to engage with? 

 

Page 16



 

 
 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  On the practice side, I will turn to Sara on that, but we have 

started conversations with London Councils around this to get that senior-level visibility around the importance 

of connectivity.  Of course, we spend quite a considerable amount of time and effort going from region to 

region, identifying the right people to talk to. 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  My team and I maintain up-to-date 

contact information for every local authority to make sure we have the right person that we are speaking to.  

We also run a number of initiatives that we hope are useful to local authorities.  For instance, we run training 

on how to use standardised agreements.  We have run training on the standardised wayleave agreement and 

we will be running one on our template mobile agreement that we are currently developing. 

 

We also organise workshops around key issues; 5G, for instance.  Also, previously, when there was funding 

available from the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport, we brought everybody together to talk 

about what that was about and what the possibilities were with that funding.  We have a number of tools in 

the kit that we can lend to boroughs and, hopefully, provide useful things for them. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Through you, Chair, it might be helpful if we could have a list of the ones that were 

not complying with a digital strategy so that we could give them a bit of a push from our end. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Are you happy to write to us on that, Theo? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Yes, I am.  There will be a number of caveats because it is not 

just boroughs that do not want to do things.  It will be things like the transition of officers and things like that.  

The point is that it is not a consistent picture.  The numbers of people in boroughs we cannot contact who 

have clearly not expressed an interest are extremely limited. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  It might be easier, Chair, if we get a snapshot of every borough and where they are at 

in the process. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Yes, we can do that.  A lot of this debate, because it is 

framed often as ‘barrier busting’, has put the burden on boroughs.  It is also, as Councillor Glanz has 

suggested, quite a complex environment in terms of new providers coming onto the scene and the changing 

regulations.  The Communications Code came in.  Regulations attempting to codify and provide clarity that 

sometimes provide the opposite and are subject to further legal definition, which has given rise to an amount 

of litigation.  Those authorities attempting to do things might often come across a legal letter from one of the 

providers.  This is a complex utility field here. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  I want to pick up the issue about not-spot areas.  A report that this 

Committee published roughly two years ago - it was in June 2017 - stated its finding that the capital is poorly 

served, suffering from not-spots and digital deserts in areas like Rotherhithe in Southwark, pretty much in this 

area.  It is nearly two years since we published the report and recommendations. 

 

Are you able to tell us whether there is any improvement in tackling not-spot areas right across London?  That 

is the worst end of connectivity.  Whilst we can talk about 4G, 5G, FTTP and so on, the fundamental 

requirement of having some connectivity is so critical.  Can you give us an update on whether there is any 

improvement and what kind of areas it covers?  Thank you. 

 

Page 17



 

 
 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  Sure.  I can speak to what we are 

doing now, what has been done and what is going to be done shortly to tackle not-spots specifically.  We have 

been working with local authorities and local authorities like Westminster and Southwark have been leading to 

identify what assets they own, what housing stock and where it is located and to match it up with maps that 

we have available on current levels of provision so that, if housing stock is located in a really poorly served 

area, that asset becomes a key tool that we can use to better provide for the surrounding area.  If you as a 

local authority get fibre served to that housing stock that is in a poorly served area, not only does the housing 

stock gets improved connectivity but the surrounding area becomes more commercially viable for a provider to 

go to. 

 

Utilising existing assets from a local authority’s perspective is a key tool.  We have seen many do that.  

Councillor Glanz is a great example of what is being done in Westminster.  Southwark is doing this as well.  

Almost all local authorities are now working very closely with providers to understand and develop master 

wayleaves so that all their housing stock can become drivers for improving availability in poorly served areas.  

We are doing that now. 

 

Also, we are working with TfL.  Shashi [Verma] will talk more about the TfL Connected London network. 

 

We have been working on developing plans with local authorities to use grant funding to serve some of their 

areas and some buildings where they are having services delivered with full fibre connectivity.  That, again, will 

also greater incentivise commercial providers to serve surrounding areas.  We are now working with almost 20 

boroughs on that project.  Should we go to Shashi now? 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  We have a couple more questions, if you would not mind.  Andrew? 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  If that is the 20 [boroughs], presumably the other 13 are -- 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Not quite.  I can see where you are going.  No, it is where we 

have been able to dedicate investment so far.  We are very hopeful that further investment will go into the 

remaining area of London that has not had that.  The Tube network is quite critical for that and so you can 

surmise from that where the challenges are. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  My last question from me for the time being is for Jonathan.  You are obviously 

working very closely with City Hall.  Is there any practical help that the Council would like to see from the 

Mayor that you are not getting at the moment and indeed that other boroughs are not getting at the moment? 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  

Most of the things that we are doing either relate to our own powers or our ability to work with other 

stakeholders.  We have heard reference to the wayleaves.  Westminster has entered into the standardised 

wayleave for all of its properties throughout the City.  Also, it has worked with the large landowners that we 

have, representing big chunks of the central area.  That is something that has not been easy because the 

Grosvenor Estate has its lawyers and the [Howard] de Walden Estate has its lawyers and the Crown Estate has 

its lawyers, but we have managed to get to a point where the wayleave agreement has been accepted, which 

has enabled large areas to be dealt with more quickly and more easily than dealing with individual negotiations 

every time somebody wants to put some fibre in. 

 

If there was any way that that methodology could be further extended through the Mayor’s influence or 

through the functional bodies of the GLA, that would also be appreciated because, clearly, there are other 

Page 18



 

 
 

property owners that we would like to continue to work with.  I am not certain how far that has gone but I am 

sure it is something that Theo has been working on.  We would be very happy to work with other owners either 

directly or under the influence of the Mayor to continue that and to spread things out as far and as fast as we 

can. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  The property sector has really come quite far, even in the 

time that I have been at City Hall, to realise the new demands of connected workplaces and spaces.  The 

industry is changing and being more receptive, but I think I am right in saying that Westminster benefits in 

terms of connectivity from essentially a small number of large landowners.  That is not replicated across areas 

of London.  When we are dealing with many smaller land owners, that provides a real challenge.  The authority 

of the Mayor and particularly the local council that has most connection with those landowners is critically 

important; hence the work we are doing with boroughs to ensure that that is happening. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I want to come back to the issue of 5G.  We are expecting it to start rolling out later 

this year [2019].  Is that likely?  Are we going to be able to roll it out efficiently?  What are the major 

challenges that you see?  Perhaps I could start with Theo. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Just on the strategic level, 5G is coming.  A number of 

providers have been in contact with us and are launching their plans imminently and so we will begin to see it.  

The benefit of 5G is obviously faster speeds, but really it is going to be a question of what people call ‘use 

cases’.  How is it deployed in industry?  How is it deployed in the public sector?  Some of those are still being 

worked out.  That will be a key factor in its demand of what you are going to use it for.  As you imagine, if you 

think back to the days of moving from 3G to 4G, people knew that there would be more of a peer-to-peer 

economy but they could not imagine Uber and other providers and that came about.  What kind of industry 

there will be in a 5G economy is yet to be seen but we know that there will be a substantial uplift. 

 

In terms of the city, 5G will require a significant amount of fibre, which is why this is even more critical work, 

and it will also require the placement of hundreds of thousands of small cell technologies on things like 

buildings and lamp posts.  The work we are doing here with the Smart Cities team funded by the European 

Commission and work with about 80 European cities is about how we can transform what the Commission 

charmingly calls ‘the humble lamp post’ into something that will effectively retrofit the city for 5G technologies 

in the future.  It is not just a lamp post having a 5G functionality but things like air quality sensors, electric 

vehicle charging points and a number of other functions.  How we use that city asset - which is owned by TfL, 

the Metropolitan Police Service - collectively to roll out smart city technology including 5G will be really 

critical.  We are leading the way in Europe on this and our team here has delivered a significant amount of 

progress on that as that leading pilot project for the European Commission and creating a business model that 

we can explore with the city. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Are there any special skills needed to be a 5G technician?  Do we have the skills or 

is that a workforce issue that will be a challenge? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  It underlines the critical importance for digital skills in 

London, without a doubt.  Our investment in the Mayor’s Digital Talent programme and the investment that 

we will be doing through the skills budget are really important. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  I understand that it is estimated that about £2 billion worth of private sector 

investment is going to be needed for this. 

 

Page 19



 

 
 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  For fibre, yes.  For 5G it is about £4.7 billion. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Do you get the sense that the private sector is willing to invest in that or are there 

barriers to that?  The cost might be off-putting for many people. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  The market is in a different place than it was four or five 

years ago.  Councillor Glanz may well have a view on this from a Westminster perspective. 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  Yes.  

By way of an update, we have entered into a contract already in relation to all of our street furniture with a 

company to provide initially better 4G but also 5G as it rolls out.  That means that each of those lamp posts by 

definition has an electricity supply, but it will also be ensuring that the fibre backhaul, which is at the other end 

of the equation required to make 5G work, is also part of that equation. 

 

Interestingly - and a comment on one of the complexities of trying to deliver on this - the contract we entered 

into after the usual processes were followed has been challenged by BT on the basis that we are preventing 

competition on the individual lamp posts.  This will be a recurring theme as other boroughs approach this.  The 

case will be an interesting one to watch as to how we are able to resolve that with BT.  Clearly, had it not been 

for that case, the investment would already be being made.  With the uncertainty that that has created, it has 

created a reticence in proceeding with the costs to which you referred because they are substantial.  I hope 

that that will not prevent a rollout across the city in a broader sense. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  The public sector is holding the assets, really, but the private sector leads? 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  The 

lamp post is an obvious example, but of course each building could have a cell or more cells put on it, provided 

that they have the ability to communicate.  It was described by one of the team that they need to be above the 

height of a double-decker bus to be effective.  It is interesting if you think about where they might then go, 

whether it is lamp posts, signage or buildings themselves.  As Theo said, we are looking at hundreds of these, 

thousands really, to provide the full connectivity that 5G would offer.  It is still a work in progress. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  It is worth underlining that point.  There is an inherent 

connection between the provision of fibre and 5G.  Sometimes you hear from people, “We do not have to 

worry about digging up the road because 5G will be here”.  It is just not the case.  The two are inexorably 

linked. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  One of the gamechangers is going to be TfL and the ability to use the Underground 

train network to lay cable.  Do you want to tell us a little bit about that and give us an update on what stage 

you are at in your digital programme? 

 

Shashi Verma (Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, TfL):  We have been 

working on a series of interconnected projects to deliver all kinds of connectivity in the Underground.  The one 

that is really time critical and safety critical for us is the delivery of the Emergency Services Network (ESN) for 

the Home Office.  That is about the delivery of a new radio system to be used by the police, the Fire Brigade 

and the other emergency services.  That project has been in development for many years and it is now being 

progressed. 

 

Page 20



 

 
 

Connected to that is also the delivery of mobile connectivity into the Underground.  Today it is 4G.  It is 4G 

today only because 4G technology has matured.  It could become 5G when 5G technology becomes more 

mature.  We would not put anything into the tunnels that is not mature as a technology because it is quite a 

difficult environment in which to work anyway and is not the place to experiment with new technology. 

 

The project to do ESN has been beset by all kinds of difficulties, which the Home Office has been dealing with 

nationally, and we have been caught up in that.  Our project has stopped and started a few times.  It is right 

now progressing but at a very slow pace.  We have an agreement from the Home Office to try to align the work 

that we are doing for the ESN with the delivery of the mobile connectivity. 

 

That is all being combined right now into a major project on which we will go to the market with a tender for a 

concessionaire to come in and build out the remainder of the technology.  We expect to be in the market fairly 

soon.  I cannot give you a date yet because there is a controlled procurement process and the date has to be 

announced through the procurement process, not here, but we will be in the market fairly soon to procure that 

concession.  That will mean that the Home Office’s project to do the ESN will progress and alongside that the 

work to bring mobile connectivity into the Tube will also progress.  Alongside that, the laying of new fibre into 

the Underground to provide connectivity wherever the Tube goes is also going to be provided as part of that. 

 

What the Tube provides is a relatively large tunnel to lay fibre in.  It is not the easiest environment, I have to 

say, but equally it is not like digging up the roads.  The idea is to provide fibre connectivity through the Tube.  

That of course is not enough because you need fibre connectivity to the end point and the idea is that this 

concession company will then work with other fibre providers or indeed if they have a fibre presence and 

London themselves to make that fibre available for others to provide connectivity to homes, businesses, 5G 

facilities or whatever else is needed. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  At that point, you should get a host of other providers that can come in because 

the cost of investment is not as great. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Even more, our work with the boroughs, starting with the 

central London boroughs but also the ones in the northeast and the west, identifying those public buildings 

near to the Tube stations lowers the cost for investment even more because we are essentially making public 

buildings into fibre hubs, extending them into communities, lowering that cost of investment.  We are 

essentially making that money that we need, the £2.5 billion for investment by 2025, go further.  TfL and 

other public assets are really critical to this. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Can I welcome the London South Bank University journalism students?  I 

am not sure if you will get a story out of this morning, but good luck.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  First of all, we have seen this dog-in-the-manger approach by BT before and it is not 

very helpful. 

 

The point I wanted to probably ask Theo is that we have looked at TfL, but south of the river - if I may venture 

across the river - a lot of the network is Network Rail’s.  How are we relating to Network Rail over its pretty 

widespread coverage south of the river where the Tube is far less? 

 

Page 21



 

 
 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  It is an obvious point.  Provision on TfL’s network will be 

extended as far as the Tube goes in south London and we have a plan to connect up to Brixton.  Is that right? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  Yes. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Discussions will be had with Network Rail to do the same.  It 

is just that it will have to take place at a slower pace.  Sara, did you want to add to that? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  Yes.  It is certainly our intention to 

work and it will be in the concessionaire’s interest to work with anybody with existing assets in the ground to 

reduce the cost of delivery to presences across the capital, really.  Network Rail will be a key partner that they 

will be looking to work with. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  And other utilities or companies. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That is what will be.  What have you been able to do so far with Network Rail to get it 

engaged? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  We have made progress on what we have done so far.  We 

have not made progress with Network Rail so far.  That is because of pretty much where we are in the stage of 

rolling this out.  It is a crucial partner in this.  Shashi might want to add to this. 

 

Shashi Verma (Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, TfL):  It is quite a 

difficult job to get this into the Underground itself.  The advantage that the Underground offers is that it is a 

tunnel.  Network Rail offers a different advantage, which is that it has right-of-way at the surface level.  Laying 

cable under the street is not impossible.  Once you are above ground, the advantage that you get from the 

right-of-way along the Network Rail tracks is diminished by the fact that there are alternatives available.  That 

is not true in central London where laying cable is genuinely difficult and digging up the street is more difficult 

than it is elsewhere.  That is why laying fibre through the Tube tunnels provides an alternative. 

 

The other thing that is quite important to recognise here is that one of the things that the city needs, or any 

economy needs, is not just fibre or not just telecommunications, but diversity of telecommunications so that if 

there is a problem with one set of lines another set of lines is available.  That is fundamentally what the Tube 

offers.  It is a completely diverse circuit.  You can take a digger and dig through the street and cut through a 

fibre bundle and that can bring lack of connectivity to whoever is connected to that fibre.  It does happen, 

unfortunately, from time to time.  However, the idea that you would do that and disrupt the fibre in the 

Underground at the same time is very remote.  That is what we are offering here. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  You have talked about the Tube tunnels.  I do not know what percentage of the Tube 

is not actually underground, but it is quite a high percentage 

 

Shashi Verma (Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, TfL):  About 40% of the 

Tube is underground.  It happens to be -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  And 60% is not? 

 

Page 22



 

 
 

Shashi Verma (Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, TfL):  Yes.  It happens to 

be the area where laying fibre is the most difficult.  That is essentially why we are focusing so much on the 

underground tunnels. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Going back to your answer on Network Rail, are you effectively saying that it is easier 

to dig up a road than run it next to a rail line? 

 

Shashi Verma (Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, TfL):  It is not easy to dig 

up a road and it is not easy to lay fibre next to the railway, either.  There are difficulties with both.  Eventually 

the market will have to figure out whether it is easier to work with Network Rail or easier to dig up a road.  To 

an extent, we can only help.  It is eventually for the providers to figure out where it is easiest for them to lay 

fibre. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  We can probably guess the answer to that. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  It is also worth saying that the boroughs themselves have 

hidden assets.  Sutton, Hackney and Waltham Forest have all commissioned studies to find out the suitability 

of their buildings and also what other assets they can bring into play to encourage investment.  Hackney’s 

closed-circuit TV (CCTV) network, which it installed 10 or 15 years ago, is being deployed as part of the 

package in its partnership with investors because, essentially, they have over 80 kilometres of dark fibre to put 

into place.  Things that can be used for connectivity that were not necessarily installed for that purpose are 

actually the things that can be used as part of a wider negotiation.  Not all boroughs know what they have and 

so our job is also to spread the good practice of those boroughs that have really made those first steps to ask 

what they have, not just buildings but their own hidden networks, and bring them into play. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  I want to raise issues about the new draft London Plan changes that we 

need to achieve, particularly in reference to FTTP connection to the premises.  Policy S16 touches upon four 

key issues.  One is building the exchanges to achieve greater connectivity.  It talks about adequacy of ducting 

space.  It refers to mitigating measures and then well-designed public-realm facilities for mobile infrastructure, 

etc.  Only in justification paragraph 9.6.2 on London’s capability, it refers to the limited availability of fibre and 

the speeds in London.  Do you think that the policy should be strengthened to require new development 

proposals to have FTTP? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  You will be happy to hear that we 

have done.  The version that you have read there was prior to the minor suggested changes.  The version with 

the minor suggested changes calls for full fibre connectivity for all new developments. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  That is extremely useful to have and very important because, if you are 

serious about treating digital connectivity as the fourth utility, that is the right approach. 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  Absolutely. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  How will the policies that will come in place be implemented, enforced and 

monitored overall? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  We will be producing guidance to go 

alongside this policy that will give local authority officers the necessary information that they need to have 

those informed discussions with developers.  In practice, developers, when they come to the planning stage, 

Page 23



 

 
 

will have to submit some evidence either in a utility plan or by way of agreement with providers that will 

demonstrate that they have considered the connectivity of their new development. 

 

That is in line with the National Planning Policy Framework.  It is also in line with Government intentions to 

introduce regulation eventually.  Therefore, we think developers are going to be compliant with it.  The 

guidance that we are offering will, hopefully, help with that as well. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  Will this fundamental change or addition that you mentioned be part of 

the S16 policy or is it another standalone policy? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  It is that policy, yes.  It has been 

revised.  I am sorry if you do not have the latest -- 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  No, I do not, unfortunately. 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  -- but we can send that through. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  Can you add into the justification this requirement for new premises that 

proposals be submitted at planning level when you have a design and access statement where you are required 

to provide detailed proposals as part of the scheme?  When you talk about the integrity of structure and the 

fire safety and so on, this could be part of the requirement as part of the application in  

design-and-access statements.  That would then make sure that, right at the design and planning stage, it gets 

scrutinised by the planners as part of an essential requirement.  This is something that would be tremendously 

useful and it would have legal bite to deliver what we are after. 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  I will discuss it with the London Plan 

colleagues and see what is possible, but that sounds, to me, sensible. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  Can you please?  I will be very happy to contribute and have a dialogue 

about this. 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  Thank you. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  We still have a window of opportunity with the Examination in Public [for 

the London Plan] taking place in this very room. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  What I would add having spent about eight years on a 

planning committee in Camden - and Councillor Glanz may well want to add to this - is that this approach, if 

accepted, introduces a real step change in connectivity.  It just puts it on the agenda. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  Absolutely, yes. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  The democratic process can now really get its teeth into 

connectivity and use that in discussions on major developments and smaller developments as well.  It is really 

important.  Our job as well, working with London councils, is to work with councillors so that they are armed 

with the right questions as well. 

 

Page 24



 

 
 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  Jonathan, are you content with the package within the new draft London 

Plan that we talked about or could it be further enhanced or made stronger to deliver the connectivity we are 

talking about? 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  I 

would certainly welcome the obligation being put on the developers to ensure that their buildings are fit for 

purpose, really, because, as you quite rightly said, connectivity is the fourth utility.  Nobody would come along 

to offer a building without water, without electricity or without other connections, and the expectation that 

they will do that I hope is pushing at an open door in terms of the realisation by developers that they will not 

be able to market their buildings in a meaningful way without connectivity.  It is now accepted that when 

people go to rent a property particularly, they will ask, “What is the connectivity like?”.  When people go into 

estate agents now, “What is the connectivity like?”.  People do not want to go back if they have had it 

elsewhere in the world or elsewhere within the UK.  Having had the ability to have effectively unlimited 

connectivity, they do not want to go back to a situation where that is not the case.  Through a combination of 

the changes in the Plan and market forces, we will see those two things coming together to ensure that we 

really do get FTTP on every new build throughout the city. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  I have one last question on this topic.  Whilst we have seen a real step 

change in the new draft London Plan with the connectivity issues, something else that can be done outside the 

London Plan as part of providing leadership in the area and that is where the question is.  What does the GLA 

do in its broader regeneration programme to promote better connectivity?  Is there a requirement for FTTP in 

GLA regeneration programmes? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  My team has been meeting recently 

with all of our different regional housing teams to talk to them about this upcoming London Plan policy.  Any 

new schemes or projects will require full fibre connectivity to any new housing.  Certainly, we are asking any 

new developments now to comply with the future upcoming London Plan and that has all in principle been 

agreed.  Yes, we are doing that through our housing team. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  Will you be closely, or are you already closely working with a whole range 

of agencies, in a sense, within the public sector, where the GLA certainly has influence as well as a stake?  For 

example, there is a whole host of London properties that are being redeveloped, etc.  TfL has a large property 

portfolio.  I am not sure how much of the Fire Authority premises or assets are left that are being redeveloped.  

The National Health Service is not within the GLA but, again, is releasing quite a lot of land, etc, where we can 

directly influence.  There are Housing Zones where large programmes are coming through for, like you 

mentioned, social housing and so on. 

 

Is this something you are doing as part of the strategy to ensure that we do have FTTP in those new 

developments? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  Yes, we work with all internal teams.  

We do a lot of work to make sure that everybody’s aware of our programme and the Mayor’s priorities in terms 

of what the new London Plan policy is going to be.  We work with our Infrastructure Team, the Regeneration 

Team, the Creative Enterprise Zone Team and the Housing Team.  We talk about full fibre a lot. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  My only concern would be that the new changes will be materially and 

legally effective only once that the Plan is adopted, which will be another year and a half.  I do not know the 

timeframe, but it is something in that region.  In the meantime, therefore, we have to be even more focused to 

Page 25



 

 
 

make sure that whilst it is not a legal requirement under planning laws, it is still provided or part of the 

schemes that are coming through. 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  For sure, and a big part of our role is 

demonstrating the benefits of it as well so that people are not just required to but want to invest in full fibre 

and demonstrating that people are not going to want to be in a building, as Councillor Glanz said, if there is no 

full fibre.  We do a lot of work with the property industry to talk about that and highlight examples of best 

practice as well. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  There is a real opportunity in London.  If you think about the 

developments that are going to happen over the next 20 years.  Some of them are very significant:  Royal 

Docks, Old Oak Common, Rotherhithe and Canada Water, which is now a very significant holding for British 

Land.  We were recently down in Rotherhithe and Canada Water with British Land and its person who was 

appointed to look at connectivity and smart technology.  The kind of infrastructure that will be put into these 

new developments will be of a completely different order to the developments that citizens today consider to 

be new such as King’s Cross, which got planning permission in 2007, a year before the invention of the 

smartphone. 

 

When we meet with connectivity providers, we are also telling the story of London about where these 

developments are and working with them to make sure that there is the proper connection with the private 

development sector, not just connectivity providers but also providers of new smart technologies.  London not 

being just one smart city but many, these 40 opportunity areas of growth in London will be extremely 

significant. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  I have one last comment.  Our report from two years ago I would quite like 

you to please go back to and have a look.  If I am not mistaken, there was a very clear recommendation related 

to the London Plan changes, something along the lines of boroughs being required to prepare their own local 

infrastructure plans with reference to digital connectivity.  That, again, would work very well with how overall 

you are working with the boroughs and that would strengthen your own capacity and the requirements from 

boroughs.  If you can please have a look at that and come back to us? 

 

Sara Kelly (Principal Policy Officer for Digital Connectivity, GLA):  Sure.  Absolutely.  As part of our 

work through the TfL Connected London network and developing the plans for how we are going to use the 

grant funding to connect up various local authority properties, we are also developing what we are calling at 

the moment a ‘pro forma’, which is effectively a digital infrastructure strategy that sets out clearly the key 

contacts, the key processes and whether there are any key stakeholders that need to be consulted as part of 

delivery.  We are doing that for every local authority that is involved with the Connected London network.  We 

are also then using that template we are developing there to work with the other local authorities not involved 

in the TfL Connected London network to, hopefully, get them to adopt a similar process as well so that we can 

develop this catalogue of digital infrastructure strategies from across London. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Thank you very much.  Finishing off with the final three questions, 

Assembly Member Arbour. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  It will be more than three questions because some very interesting things have emerged 

from this.  The first question I would like to ask is about futureproofing.  I do not know when people first 

Page 26



 

 
 

started talking about 5G, but it seems to me to be months ago rather than years ago.  I am very struck by the 

analogy that Theo has given about King’s Cross and smartphones.  Given the rapidity of change, are you sure 

that all your proposed plans for 5G will not simply become redundant because something is going to overtake 

it and you are going to make this vast investment - this is really something for you all - that may turn out not 

to be a smart investment at all? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  The approach we are taking is absolutely vital for the city, 

which is providing, effectively, the infrastructure.  We do not know quite what will come with 5G, but we know 

that it will require fibre.  The next generation beyond 5G, which some people talk about even now, 6G, will still 

require a fibre infrastructure there.  This has now become, as Jonathan mentioned, just the fourth utility for 

London.  That is where technological progress has taken us and that is our challenge to meet. 

 

In London, if you are thinking about futureproofing, we are not placing a bet.  If you think about the 

usefulness that comes from technology, London is so big and has such diverse specialisms.  We are not placing 

a bet on one application of that technology or another in our digital economy.  The application of technologies 

to London’s growth and business come from many specialisms. 

 

The GLA did a study back in 2014 that said there were 50 science and technology hubs in London.  That would 

be at least doubled or tripled now just because of the pace of change.  It is not one bet that comes from this.  

It is many different functions that we can offer our citizens and indeed the world. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Are you happy that TfL is futureproofed? 

 

Shashi Verma (Chief Technology Officer & Director of Customer Experience, TfL):  There are two 

different things that we are doing.  One is that we are putting equipment in the tunnels and then we are 

putting switching equipment outside the tunnels to enable 4G and fibre connectivity. 

 

The tunnels are a difficult environment where, once you lay cable, you do not want to go back in there 

frequently.  Everything that we have seen about 5G so far is that the sort of cabling that we are putting into 

the tunnels will be adequate for both 4G and 5G.  In terms of futureproofing and putting provision in that is 

resilient to change, the difficult environment is getting that futureproofed solution. 

 

Where the 5G solution is not yet stable is in all the switching equipment.  That is where the technology is 

rapidly evolving, and we have not seen the end of that evolution of technology.  That is not going to be in the 

tunnels.  It is still going to be in difficult environments, but it is not going to be in the tunnels.  That is where, 

as I said, we do not want to experiment with technology, but we want to provide the space, the power, the 

cooling and things of that kind that will allow operators of that technology to switch from 4G to 5G or indeed 

anything in the future at a relatively low cost. 

 

I say that because we do not know yet what the nature of this switching equipment for 5G is going to be and 

so all we can do is make sure that we are putting in the most resilient technology that can withstand the 

changes of technology as it comes along.  Are we absolutely guaranteed to be completely futureproofed?  No, 

because we do not know what that future evolution is going to be, but we have taken all the reasonable steps 

that one could possibly take to become resilient. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am very interested in your assets here.  Of course, one obvious piece of futureproofing 

you got wrong in this is the Elizabeth line.  The only thing there that I could see that is definite is to say that 

Page 27



 

 
 

there has to be sufficient capacity within the ducts that you put in for the fibre or something else, which is 

manifestly true. 

 

I recall when I was responsible for this area in a borough and we wanted to use the equipment assets that the 

borough owned like lamp posts.  We found that we had let some of the lamp posts already to somebody else 

and we could not get hold of them. 

 

What makes you think that the 80,000 street furniture assets that you have are available to you, or indeed that 

however many Westminster has, are freely available to you and that somebody has not already pre-empted 

them and can in effect blackmail you into buying them out? 

 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  That 

is interesting because we were early adopters of previous technology and we did a deal many years ago with BT 

for it to use lamp posts as part of what was then leading-edge technology, which now looks of course 

completely historic.  That was a time-limited deal that was determined, and we know that we have those assets 

back and available to be used for the new technology.  Of course, we keep an asset register of those.  We have 

made the usual due diligence to ensure that we have not let them to somebody else and that they are available 

to enter into our contract.  As I mentioned earlier, there are other people who have a different view about that 

and they are seeking to challenge that commercial arrangement.  That could be replicated elsewhere, but 

certainly, it is something we have to resolve in Westminster. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  That is precisely the point I made.  You talked about how there ought to be a register of 

what the boroughs are doing, and borough assets and some borough have not done it and this, that and the 

other.  It should be looked at very carefully.  I am completely dumbfounded to think that any London borough, 

no matter how backward it might appear to be politically, is not absolutely at the cutting edge of this and does 

not have a register of assets.  I just cannot understand it. 

 

I recall some years ago the assets that the City [of London] Corporation had relating to its hydropower, which 

was used here for the bridge and for lifts and things of that sort, provided a vast amount of ducting and 

cabling and things like that. What has happened to all of those things?  Are there others that ought to be on a 

register but are not? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Just going back to the question of ownership of lamp posts, 

we know that approximately 18 boroughs are in a position to fully own their own lamp posts for discussions 

around joint working together.  Others have leased their lamp posts off in commercial arrangements with 

providers as part of cost-cutting measures and some connectivity measures.  There are. of course, some legal 

disagreements, as we have said, about that.  There are approximately 20,000 lamp posts per borough and so 

this is a potentially large market, even if you are looking at only 18 boroughs.  Of course, if the lamp posts 

were leased off to another provider, they would be in the game for these kinds of technology anyway but just 

not working in concert.  It goes back to the question of LOTI and working together with boroughs and how we 

do things more together.  These are all quite live questions for us. 

 

On the question of asset registers, I have no doubt that every borough has an asset register.  Whether it is in a 

shareable form, whether it has been pointed in the direction of digital connectivity, whether people fully know 

the capability of the assets that they have, whether they know where the ducting is, that is a slightly different 

question.  What we need boroughs to do is to look afresh at their assets with the lens of digital connectivity. 

 

Page 28



 

 
 

Councillor Jonathan Glanz (Gig Economy and Broadband Champion, Westminster City Council):  Can 

I just comment on that as well?  It is not just boroughs that have assets that could be useful in this context.  

We had a very interesting presentation from the utilities companies and they have very significant numbers of 

redundant assets, which provide in some cases quite large tunnels going for quite long stretches within 

London.  They have done quite a lot of work in terms of analysing what they have and I know that they are 

willing to share that with boroughs to look at being able to copy what is being done by TfL and to get fibre 

comparatively quickly and easily beneath streets without the need to dig them up. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  We have just won a bid from the Geospatial Commission to 

provide an underground asset register in central London so that we fully know what is underneath us, which is 

an immense benefit of course to connectivity and also to construction projects so that you know where you are 

going. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I can now revert to what I have been told to ask questions about.  These sessions are quite 

pointless if they are not interactive and we can pick up stuff from you that we had not known about before.  

On the point about technology and so on, TfL’s principal asset, according to this thing here, relates to a 

technology that is long gone when you talk about ducting for trams.  The last tram ran more than half a 

century ago.  It is quite extraordinary that that should be here. 

 

The question I have been tasked to ask you, Theo, is: how are you ensuring that businesses have the skills to 

take it on?  There is no point in providing the technology if people do not have the skills to take it on and 

businesses do not have the skills to take it on.  What are we doing? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  There are a number of initiatives that the Mayor is 

undertaking.  First of all, there is the Digital Talent programme, which was launched in 2015 with a number of 

commitments the GLA has made to this.  The Digital Talent programme is an extremely important investment 

in underserved groups - the working class, black, Asian and minority ethnic people, women - and has been 

working with a range of new providers to get people apprenticeship-ready and to boost entrepreneurial skills 

among young people.  It is a really exciting, well designed initiative, from which we are beginning to see some 

of the fruits. 

 

Of particular concern for many in London is that Londoners are not left behind by technology and so we do 

need a strong focus on digital inclusion.  The devolution of the Adult Skills Budget provides us a real 

opportunity to assist Londoners with low or no digital skills and we will be making an announcement in 

September [2019] on that provision for Londoners.  That devolution gives us a really good opportunity to 

engage with the business community as well, not just in terms of their workers but also in terms of their 

customers.  Previously with digital skills, there was money available from the Government, but it was not 

marketed very well.  The logic was that if you marketed it, there was not enough resource to meet the demand. 

 

We really need to look at how we work with the Citizens Advice Bureau and some of our large providers to 

identify people who could really benefit from better digital skills to make them more confident in the digital 

world.  That is a really big focus for later this year that the Mayor has asked me to look at. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  There is a report that was published only today talking about the decline in the number of 

students studying information and communication technology (ICT) at school.  Presumably, that has a  

knock-on effect throughout the generations?  I think the [Adult] Education Budget that has been devolved to 

us here is Jules Pipe’s [Deputy Mayor for Planning, Regeneration and Skills] responsibility.  Is that right? 

 

Page 29



 

 
 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  And Joanne’s [McCartney AM, Statutory Deputy Mayor] as 

well.  In my previous life, not just being a local councillor in Camden, I worked for the Association for UK 

Interactive Entertainment, which is a video games trade body.  We had a campaign called Next Gen Skills, 

which convinced the Government to change the curriculum and put coding in the curriculum so that kids from 

primary school age onwards had computing skills, not just basic ICT skills. 

 

Part of the Digital Talent programme supports not just the students but the teachers, enabling them to teach 

the new computing curriculum.  It also supports them with pedagogy to teach the new curriculum in an 

exciting way because for too long perhaps we taught ICT and computing in a way that put some people off 

and appealed to others.  That investment is critically important in not just helping with the new curriculum but 

also attracting people to take it up at each stage of the education cycle when they have a choice. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Given that City Hall now has the further education (FE) budget, for you and whoever is 

managing that FE budget, this clearly will be an area where there is a connection between the two, I should 

imagine. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Without a doubt. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  The second question I have seems to me to be kind of rhetorical but gives you a chance to 

say how wonderful you are and again it is to you, Theo.  How do you think improvements to digital 

infrastructure will impact on London’s competitiveness over the next decade?  I am sure you are not going to 

say that it is not going to have any effect. 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):   I mentioned before that London is a city of convergence.  

The number of specialist tech sectors that we have here has grown and is growing at the moment.  Every day 

people seem to put ‘tech’ at the end to make a new word, law-tech and prop-tech and things like that.  It is 

absolutely fundamental for this city’s growth. 

 

The number one concern that people have put to us as a city in relation to their business growth - and this also 

applies critically to the public sector - is our ability to attract talent, to have homegrown talent - which is the 

skills challenge - and also to attract talent from across the world, the idea being that if we are going to create 

world-class products, we need to have world-class teams and be able to assemble them.  That is one of our 

really fundamental challenges as a city, whether there is a delayed Brexit or not. 

 

London has a real advantage in its brand across the world that we often see.  There is a ranking system that 

happens at Davos and London for the last five or six years has come top, primarily because of its cultural offer, 

as well as the track record that we have in innovation.  It is a great attractor for people.  We are well placed for 

the future of this. 

 

In terms of my role, which is primarily around public service transformation, our job is to mobilise all of that for 

civic benefit.  We come from quite a good starting point.  London has a great track record around data with 

the open data that was started in 2010 here that we are looking to advance in the future.  TfL’s unified 

application programming interface, now in its fifth year, was an immense achievement, opening up all of that 

data so that a huge family of developers could develop really cool applications for Londoners like Citymapper 

that have really transformed people’s lives.  There is an interrelationship between the two.  The innovation we 

do as a city also has a knock-on effect. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Is there anybody snapping at your heels?  My question is on competitiveness. 

Page 30



 

 
 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  It is a really good question.  We are closer in what we do to 

quite a lot of European cities.  When I look to things that other cities are doing that I would quite like us to do 

in the future, I see Amsterdam developing an open-source platform, as has Paris, which has enabled them to 

lower costs and provide a range of applications, usually quite simple but functional ones, to citizens and to city 

governments.  That has meant that they are less reliant on big inflexible tech. 

 

The direction of travel that I would like to take us is to enable our city to have more capability to shape more 

things around the needs of our citizens and to be less reliant on big tech.  Big tech is of course necessary for 

many things, but it does not have to be overly dominant in our city services. 

 

When I see things that I would like to emulate, I look to the work that Amsterdam is doing.  There is some 

really good work also in Helsinki around -- 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  They are sort of Toy Towns compared to London, are they not? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Yes, 650,000 people.  That is true, but in London we look at 

things both on a level of 9 million people and on the average borough size of 250,000. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I would have thought that that is something that we should be looking at, really.  I am of a 

generation that remembers when everybody was given an Acorn computer -- 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  I remember them, too. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  -- and I do wonder whether we ought not to have a new generation of things.  People 

would charge for the use of it, but if the piece of hardware equipment was dished out it would be the real 

thing to popularise all of this.  Maybe that is too futureproof. 

 

My third question has already been answered by Councillor Glanz telling us how wonderful Westminster is and 

you already have.  Thank you, Chair. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  I thought I should put how wonderful Westminster is as my last question.  I 

am showing my bias here anyway.  There are two other things I was going to ask, Theo.  One has been touched 

on by Tony [Arbour AM].  Could you write to us with examples of what other cities are doing that you would 

like to do ideally in the future? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  Yes. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  The question I always ask because I am often told to by the Scrutiny Team 

and by my party leadership, actually, is: how do you measure success? 

 

Theo Blackwell (Chief Digital Officer, GLA):  The Smart London Together roadmap is published openly.  

We have published that on an off-the-shelf project management toolkit called Trello.  We just have a Trello 

board and it tells you what we are doing, what success we are measuring on our 20 or so initiatives, when we 

have pivoted - because sometimes we are doing something, and we realise that the hypothesis is wrong - and 

why.  We have published that openly. 

 

Page 31



 

 
 

We did that because, when you talk about a smart city, it involves lots and lots of different things coming 

together, which is very confusing for practitioners and the public.  We felt we needed to be clear about our 

approach.  That is fundamentally how we hold ourselves accountable.  Each of the measures will have its own 

success criteria, whether it is the Mayor’s Civic Innovation Challenge, the work of the Connected London Team 

or indeed the metrics around the Mayor’s Digital Talent programme. 

 

On a high level, how I measure success is through our ability for our public services to be more responsive to 

the needs of citizens, how we use data as a city and how we mobilise that for civic benefit.  That essentially is 

the goal and what we are trying to do here. 

 

Tony Devenish AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  Any final questions from colleagues?  No.  Can I thank our 

guests for their attendance and very helpful contributions to the discussion? 

Page 32



Full Fibre Coverage

Source: Ofcom Connected Nations 2018 report, coverage data Sep 2018 (fixed postcode)

Full Fibre availability (% premises)
1% - 20%
21% - 40%
41% - 60%
61% - 80%
81% - 100%

Appendix 2

P
age 33



Ultrafast Coverage

Source: Ofcom Connected Nations 2018 report, coverage data Sep 2018 (fixed postcode)

UFBB availability (% premises) 
1% - 20%
21% - 40%
41% - 60%
61% - 80%
81% - 100%

P
age 34



Superfast Coverage

Source: Ofcom Connected Nations 2018 report, coverage data Sep 2018 (fixed postcode)

SFBB availability (% premises) 
1% - 20%
21% - 40%
41% - 60%
61% - 80%
81% - 100%

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 36



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  
 

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 26 June 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Regeneration Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and ongoing arising from previous meetings of 

the Committee. 

 

 

Action arising from the Committee meeting on 8 May 2019 

 

Item Topic Status For Action  
 

8 Digital Connectivity and London as a Smart City 

 

The Chief Digital Officer, Greater London Authority, 

undertook to: 

 Provide a snapshot of each London boroughs’ 

progress on developing a digital strategy;  

 Discuss with the GLA London Plan Team the 

possibility of having a requirement for the design and 

access statement in respect of planning applications 

to provide detailed proposals on digital connectivity; 

 

 

 

In progress. 

 

 

Chief Digital Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cont … 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



        

 
 Respond regarding the current position on the 

following recommendation from the Committee’s 

report, Digital Connectivity in London, “The next 

London Plan should encourage boroughs to produce 

local connectivity plans to ensure sufficient access to 

a minimum level of broadband service. Applications 

for new developments should provide upgrades to 

connectivity to meet what is outlined in local plans”. 

 To provide examples of the activities other cities are 

doing which the Chief Digital Officer would like to do 

in the future in London. 

 

  

 The Committee agreed to delegate authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy Chair, to 

agree any output from the Committee’s meeting on the 

review of the work on Digital Connectivity and London 

as a smart city and any additional activity to support the 

Committee’s scrutiny investigation. 

 

In progress Senior Policy Adviser 

9. Regeneration Committee Work Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair, to agree the scope 

and terms of reference for the Committee’s scrutiny 

review of the GLA Culture Team and place-based 

projects. 
 

 

 

Completed. The 

delegation was 

not used.  The 

report at Agenda 

Item 6 sets out 

more information 

on this scrutiny 

topic. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38



        

 

Action arising from the Committee meeting on 6 March 2019 

 

Item Topic Status For Action  
 

5 The GLA’s Regeneration Team’s Work 

 

The Head of Regeneration, London Borough of Croydon, 

undertook to send slides of a presentation on Brick by 

Brick’s (BXB) work (the housing development company 

established by Croydon Council to build new homes on 

multiple sites throughout the borough), and any other 

relevant presentations relating to the regeneration of 

small sites in Croydon. 

 

 

 

In progress. 

 

 

Head of 

Regeneration, 

London Borough of 

Croydon 

 

 

 

Action arising from the Committee meeting on 31 January 2019 

 

Item Topic Status For Action  
 

5 The GLA’s Housing Zones Programme  

 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chair, to agree any output 

from the meeting and any additional activity to support 

the Committee’s scrutiny investigation. 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 
 
3. Legal Implications 
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1   There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

Page 39



        

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 40

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: The GLA Culture Team and         
Place-Based Culture Initiatives 

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 26 June 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public 
 
 

 

1. Summary 
 
1.1. This report sets out the background for a meeting with invited guests to discuss issues relating to the 

Greater London Authority (GLA) Culture Team and place-based culture initiatives.  
 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees the areas for consideration set out in paragraph 4.1 of the 

report for this meeting. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes this report as background to the discussion with invited guests 

on the GLA Culture Team and place-based culture initiatives and notes the subsequent 

discussion. 

 

2.3 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chair, to agree any output from the Committee’s meeting on the review of the work of the 

GLA Culture Team and place-based culture initiatives. 

 

 

3. Background 
 

3.1 In 2017, the Regeneration Committee sought out the views from those working in the culture and 

creative sector on what needs to be done for London to maintain its status as the creative hub that it 

is and safeguard London’s cultural venues, studio and work spaces despite the fast pace of 

regeneration in the city.  The Committee made a number of practical recommendations on how to 

achieve sustainable culture-led regeneration in its report Creative Tensions1. 

 

3.2 Since the report, a number of Mayoral initiatives have been launched. These include the Creative 

Enterprise Zones, Creative Land Trust, London Borough of Culture, and importantly, the Cultural 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/creative-tensions 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



    

 

 

Infrastructure Plan, which is an action plan setting out how London can support and grow cultural 

spaces in London for generations to come. 
 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

4.1 Members may wish to: 

 Look at the delivery of the Cultural Infrastructure Plan, related initiatives and assess the extent 

to which the Regeneration Committee’s recommendations from 2017 have been implemented; 

and 

 Scrutinise the Mayor’s work and GLA spend on culture and creative industries. 

 

Invited guest 

4.2 The following guest has been invited to the meeting: 

 Shonagh Manson, Assistant Director – Culture and Creative Industries, Greater London 

Authority. 

 

4.3 The Committee is recommended to delegate authority to the Chairman, in consultation with the 

Deputy Chair, to agree any output from the meeting. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Riina Heinonen, Policy Adviser 

Telephone:  020 7983 4510 

E-mail:  riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 42

mailto:riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Regeneration Committee Work 
Programme  

 

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 26 June 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out the initial work programme for the Regeneration Committee for the 

2019/20 Assembly year. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the progress on its work programme, as set out in the report. 

 

 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The Annual Meeting of the Assembly on 2 May 2019 agreed meeting slots for the Regeneration 

Committee for the 2019/20 Assembly year.  The Committee may choose to use the meeting slots for 

formal meetings, site visits, informal meetings or other engagement activities.  

 

3.2 The Committee’s initial work programme is set out below.   

 

Date Topic 

 

8 May 2019 Digital Connectivity and London as a Smart City  

 

26 June 2019 at 2pm GLA Culture Team and place based culture initiatives 

 

23 July 2019  To be confirmed 

 

4 September 2019  To be confirmed 

 

9 October 2019 To be confirmed 

 

5 November 2019 To be confirmed 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



        

3 December 2019 To be confirmed 

 

28 January 2020 To be confirmed 

 

27 February 2020 

 

To be confirmed 

17 March 2020 

 

To be confirmed 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

4.1 At its meeting on 8 April 2019, the GLA Oversight Committee agreed the topics for the Committee’s 

first two meetings in May and June 2019.   

 

Digital Connectivity and London as a Smart City 

4.2 The Committee used its first meeting slot for a scrutiny review of ‘Digital Connectivity and London 

as a Smart City’ focusing on the work of the Chief Digital Officer and the Mayor’s vision as set out in 

the Smarter London Together.   

 

GLA Culture Team and place-based projects 

4.3 The GLA Culture Team has seen significant growth both in staffing as well as its budget, and the 

Committee will use this meeting for a scrutiny of the GLA Culture Team’s work particularly as it 

relates to place-based projects and the spatial development of London.  The report at Agenda 

Item 6 gives more information about this scrutiny review. 

  

 

 Work Programme for the Remainder of the Assembly Year 

4.4 Other topics will be agreed by the GLA Oversight’s Committee at its meeting on 1 July 2019. 

 

4.5 As in previous years, the Committee may wish to use some of its meeting slots to undertake site 

visits, hold roundtables and receive briefings to support its scrutiny work. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 
6. Financial Implications 

 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



        

 

List of appendices to this report: None. 

  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Lorraine Ford, Senior Policy Adviser 

Telephone:  020 7983 4394 

E-mail:  scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 45

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	4 Minutes
	Appendix 1 - Minutes - Transcript of Item 8 - Digital Connectivity and London as a Smart City
	Appendix 2 - Maps of Digital Connectivity in London
	Appendix 2a-FTTP_coverage
	Appendix 2b-Ultrafast_Coverage
	Appendix2c-Superfast_Coverage


	5 Summary List of Actions
	6 The GLA Culture Team and Place-Based Culture Initiatives
	7 Regeneration Committee Work Programme



